IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

**Supreme Court Case
No. SC08-250**

Appellant,

IN RE:

**The Florida Bar File No.
2008-51,119(17G) FRE**

**PETITION FOR REINSTATEMENT
OF MICHAEL HOWARD WOLF,**

Petitioner - Appellee.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S INITIAL BRIEF

**MICHAEL DAVID SOIFER, #545856
Bar Counsel
The Florida Bar
5900 N. Andrews Avenue, Suite 900
Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309
(954) 772-2245**

**KENNETH LAWRENCE MARVIN, #200999
Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
651 E. Jefferson Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300
(850) 561-5600**

**JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390
Executive Director
The Florida Bar
651 East Jefferson Street
Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300
(850) 561-5600**

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant, The Florida Bar, is seeking review of a Report of Referee recommending Petitioner's Reinstatement.

Appellant will be referred to as The Florida Bar, or as The Bar. Petitioner - Appellee, will be referred to as Petitioner, or as Mr. Wolf throughout this brief.

References to the Report of Referee shall be by the symbol RR followed by the appropriate page number.

References to specific pleadings will be made by title. References to the transcript of the final hearing are by symbol TR, followed by the volume, followed by the appropriate page number. (e.g., TR III, 289).

References to Bar exhibits shall be by the symbol TFB Ex. followed by the appropriate exhibit number (e.g., TFB Ex. 10).

References to Petitioner's Exhibits shall be by the symbol Pet. Ex. followed by the appropriate exhibit number (e.g., Pet. Ex. 10).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

In SC04-1374, The Florida Bar v. Michael Howard Wolf, 930 So.2d 574 (Fla. 2006), this Court held that petitioner negligently misappropriated client funds as a result of “sloppy bookkeeping” practices. *Id* at 578. Petitioner had made six deposits of client settlement checks into his operating account. Further, due to petitioner’s misuse of client monies, there were shortages in his operating account, which as demonstrated by the Bar’s audit, was overdrawn throughout the audit period. This Court, by order dated February 23, 2006, found that rehabilitation was appropriate and ordered that Mr. Wolf be suspended for two years, be required to retake and pass the ethics portion of the Florida Bar examination, and serve one year probation upon reinstatement.

On February 11, 2008, Mr. Wolf filed a petition for reinstatement. Beginning at page 14 of the petition, petitioner states his employment during the suspension as follows: From June 1, 2006 to October, 2006, petitioner was a paralegal/office manager/case coordinator for the Law Office of Arthur Cohen. Thereafter, petitioner was a paralegal/office manager/case coordinator for the Law Offices of Bernace A. DeYoung. The petition also states that he worked as a consultant for the Florida Arcade and Bingo Association from the effective date of the suspension to the present. This was pursuant to an independent contractor agreement. (Pet. Ex. A-26). At page

15, petitioner states that he has not been practicing law, has not had direct client contact, and has not dealt with trust funds or property.

Petitioner failed to disclose on the petition that he conducted a private consulting business separate and apart from the employment he revealed on the petition. At TR II, 251-252, petitioner testified about this omission as follows:

THE REFEREE: Why didn't you mention it on the form?

THE WITNESS: It says consulting for Florida Arcade and Bingo Association. The last paragraph says consultant to the Florida Arcade and Bingo Association. My private consulting clients come typically through Gale and the Arcade Association so I mean we can split hairs and say that's something different than doing private consulting.

More accurately, in his private consulting business, petitioner met with clients beyond those affiliated with the Florida Arcade and Bingo Association, prepared billing invoices, and billed those clients separately. Those clients directly paid petitioner or his business, Michael H. Wolf and Associates, LLC. (TR II, 253-254). Petitioner operated his consulting business at the offices of both attorneys he was employed by, Cohen and DeYoung, but the consulting was separate and apart from either Cohen's or DeYoung's law practices, and he maintained his own letterhead with the name Michael H. Wolf And Associates, LLC. (TR II, 267; TFB Ex. 6). Petitioner testified that he consulted with people who were considering opening or buying an arcade. (TR II 270). He also provided consulting services to vendors, who are

typically individuals or entities that sell or lease amusement machines to arcade owners. (TR II, 279). And he advised these clients about the necessity of checking zoning restrictions, ordinances concerning parking restrictions, and the correct number of machines to a space, as well as reporting requirements to the Florida Department of Revenue and arcade business promotions regulated by Chapter 849, Florida Statutes. Petitioner testified he would also look up ordinances on his computer for his clients and advise them if a particular jurisdiction had ordinances pertaining to amusement arcades. (TR II, 270-276). And he provided copies of legal forms to his private consulting clients to use as samples, including a 52-page lease for an arcade, which he testified he believed was a good form to use from the aspect of over-protecting the landlord and under-protecting the tenant. (TR II, 276-277).

At the final hearing, he admitted to being paid regularly and at times substantial sums for his private consulting business. (RR 5). Yet, in addition to not disclosing the existence of the consulting business on the reinstatement petition, petitioner also failed to disclose on the petition his income derived from this business. (TR II, 254). Petitioner kept no records for his consulting clients, except for a billing invoice, and sometimes he did not even prepare an invoice. (TR II, 281). Page 15 of petitioner's reinstatement petition sets forth his approximate monthly earnings and the sources of those earnings during his suspension. Petitioner only disclosed that, in addition to

accrued legal fees earned before the suspension, he earned approximately \$500 per week from Attorney Cohen, \$1,000 per week from Attorney DeYoung, and \$1,000 per month from the Florida Arcade and Bingo Association. In fact, his business tax return for the year 2006 disclosed \$197,222 in gross receipts or sales and \$142,322 in income for his business, Michael H. Wolf & Associates, LLC. (Pet. Ex. 19, attached to petitioner's supplement to petition for reinstatement). Petitioner admitted that some of those gross receipts were for his consulting business, but the consulting business was not listed on the tax return. (TR II, 255-256). The 2007 tax returns were not provided with the petition, and the bar specifically requested those. (Pet. Ex. A-62). When provided, petitioner's 2007 business tax return disclosed \$95,315 in gross receipts or sales and \$91,459 in total income for his business, Michael H. Wolf & Associates, LLC. (Pet. Ex. A-25; 25a). After receiving the 2007 tax returns, the bar requested copies of all checks and other documentation relating to the gross receipts or sales declared on the tax return and also requested petitioner provide an affidavit containing a complete description of services he provided from his business for the tax years 2006 and 2007. (Pet. Ex. A-63). The affidavit, dated June 5, 2008, provided by petitioner in response to the said request, stated in pertinent part:

3. During the years 2006 and 2007, services and products that I provided, to generate gross receipts as declared on my Federal tax returns (both corporate, Form 1065, and personal Form 1044) were working as a

paralegal, compliance officer to the Florida Arcade and Bingo Association, consultant, including consulting with and for the Amusement Arcade Industry, and aerobics instructor for L.A. Fitness. (Pet. Ex. A-29).

No further explanation of his “consulting” work was provided by the petitioner on the affidavit. As a result of the evidence at the final hearing, the referee found petitioner gave advice on opening arcades, reported on law changes in the area, reviewed leases, and researched ordinances that would apply to new arcade sites. (RR 5).

The evidence also showed petitioner, pursuant to his “consulting business,” was paid \$10,000 directly by Global Games, a vendor who was a client of petitioner’s prior to his suspension. Petitioner was paid to put together a legal defense team for an owner of an establishment where Global Games owned arcade machines that had been seized by the government and were subject to possible forfeiture. (TR II 284, 286-289; TFB Ex. 6). Petitioner testified that he was hired to select the lawyers for the team and act as a consultant to the lawyers on the team. He testified that part of his job was:

... to educate those lawyers in strategy, the elements, the defense strategy for defending these type of cases which is markedly different from a typical criminal case ... (TR II 287-288).

The petitioner testified the legal team he assembled did not go forward because the establishment owner hired his own attorney. But petitioner continued to have

further involvement with the case. He had discussions with the owner's new attorney about the case and what needed to be done, and offered to be at the trial. (TR II 290-292). In addition, petitioner testified that a separate forfeiture action against Global Games had also been filed and that he called the lawyer for the sheriff to ascertain the status, and was informed the action had been dismissed. (TR II 292).

The referee also found that petitioner "consulted with a State Attorney on the 'proper interpretation' of 'gaming law' for another attorney's criminal client." (RR 5-6). Petitioner's testimony was that he was contacted by Steve DaGrave (phonetic) of M&W Enterprises concerning a legal problem in Key West, FL, involving a cease and desist letter issued by the Key West State Attorney's Office. A meeting was held at Ms. DeYoung's office with Ms. DeYoung present. Ms. DeYoung advised DaGrave to retain counsel in Key West and also suggested he retain petitioner to assist the Key West attorney. Petitioner testified that he was to assist the attorney as follows (TT II, 298):

Bring him up to speed on the arcade issues, about the law pertaining to amusement machines, application of skill, all of the things that he would need to be aware of in order to go and have an intelligent meeting with the State Attorney's Office down there.

Petitioner was paid directly by M&W Enterprises a fee of \$2,500 plus travel expenses for this purpose. Petitioner met with the Key West attorney and prepared

him for the meeting with the State Attorney's office. Petitioner attended the meeting at the State Attorney's office and presented argument, which referenced case law and Attorney General Opinions. (TR II 297-304; TFB Ex. 8). TFB Ex. 8 also contains another check for \$1,000 payable directly to petitioner from M&W Enterprises. Ms. DeYoung did not receive any payment for her participation in the consultation. (TR II, 310; TFB Ex. 8).

In another matter, petitioner was paid \$1,000 directly by a company called Las Vegas Games to assist a Starke City attorney, Dudley Hardy, on arcade issues with the City Council. Petitioner wrote a letter to Mr. Hardy, dated July 13, 2007, wherein he gives legal analysis to a proposed ordinance. The letter refers to case law, Attorney General Opinions, and an Appellate Brief in addressing legal issues raised in the ordinance. The letter was written on Ms. DeYoung's letterhead and signed by petitioner purportedly in the capacity of Director, Arcade Compliance Division for Ms. DeYoung's firm. Yet, the matter did not involve a client of Ms. DeYoung and the letter was written without Ms. DeYoung's supervision or signature. (TR II 293-296). The billing statement was sent on petitioner's consulting business letterhead. Copies of the letter, invoice, and \$1,000 check paid directly to petitioner are in evidence as TFB Ex. 7.

The referee also found the evidence demonstrated petitioner “allowed a check to be used for a direct retainer for another attorney to be written to him.” (RR 4-5). Petitioner’s testimony was that in two instances, David Schneider of D&E Stables and a client prior to the suspension, gave him a check to pay for a lawyer to handle a legal issue. One check was for \$20,000 and the other was for \$2,000. (TFB Ex. 12, Pet. Ex. A-37). Both checks were made payable to petitioner and were deposited into his business account. A garnishment lien on the \$20,000 deposit was asserted by Biloxi Casino Corporation, which had an outstanding personal judgment against petitioner. Ms. DeYoung had to file an emergency motion on petitioner’s behalf to dissolve the lien. (TR II, 312-315, 319; TFB Ex. 13).

The referee further found that petitioner cashed a check made out to him which was payment for legal services of another attorney. (RR 5). The evidence demonstrated that while in Attorney Cohen’s employ, petitioner received funds directly from clients in payment of sums that Cohen owed petitioner in back pay. (TR I, 121-123). Andrew Soowal testified that his company, Top Branch Environmental Services (Top Branch) was petitioner’s client and that it went to Cohen for legal services after petitioner became employed there. (TR I, 70-71). On September 26, 2006, Cohen billed Top Branch for legal work performed between July 11, 2006 and September 4, 2006, for which Top Branch paid petitioner directly. (TR I, 76; TFB Ex.

1). Petitioner also received \$1,900 directly from another prior client who became Cohen's client, Inter Ocean Industries. (Pet. Ex. A-67; TR I, 126). Cohen also paid petitioner directly from his trust account, client settlement proceeds in three personal injury cases: Petakas, Smith, and Twitty. (Pet. Ex. A-47; TFB Ex. 3 and 4). In the Smith file, which was opened after petitioner's effective suspension date, Cohen testified he paid petitioner \$3,725.88 of the total fee of \$4,162.50, for back pay owed, despite indicating on the trust account check paid to petitioner that it was payment for prior fees earned. (TR I, 132-135).

In the report of referee, the referee also noted that two checks paid directly to petitioner by clients of his consulting business contained a description indicating it was payment for "legal consult" and "for legal services." (RR 5; Pet. Ex. A-37).

Petitioner also received funds directly from Attorney DeYoung that were intended for payment of petitioner's employee, Deborah Carter. Petitioner deposited those funds into his bank account. Those funds were not held intact by petitioner and as a result, checks that petitioner wrote to Ms. Carter resulted in overdrafts to his account. (TT II, 335-337).

The referee found that petitioner is "horrible at financial management." (RR 6). The referee also found that petitioner is behind in filing and paying income taxes, failed to keep good financial records about his private consulting business, and that his

bank accounts continue to be often overdrawn. (RR 4-5). Petitioner admits he failed to repay any of the judgments or tax liens listed in his reinstatement petition. (TT II 334). Exhibit 18 to the petition sets forth ten tax liens filed from 1996 through August 2007, and seven judgments filed from 2001 through October 2006.

The referee considered petitioner's failure to notify two clients and one judge of the suspension as required by Rule 3-5.1(g), R. Regulating Fla. Bar, not to be significant. (RR 6).

The final hearing was conducted on July 21, 2008, with final argument heard on July 24, 2008. At the final hearing, the referee elaborated on her concerns about petitioner's conduct during his suspension, including his failure to mention the consulting business or the income he derived therefrom on his reinstatement petition, his direct receipt of client funds, and his continued inability to manage his finances.

The referee stated at TR II, 265-266:

I guess one of my concerns is if I'm going to let you go practice law again, one of the concerns we had two years ago was the ability of you to manage the finances and the bookkeeping end of it and, you know, one of my concerns is I still see some indications here that that is not your forte and how do I -- I can't -- clearly I believe there is a one-year probation from the time I reinstate you so I get to watch for a year I guess. I guess I get to watch for that year, but I still see some signs and clearly your first five months there with Mr. Cohen's practices were not as good as I would like to have seen Mr. Cohen's practices to have been.

It looks to me like DeYoung is much more in line of the regiment that someone like you is going to need. I have no guaranty that she is

going to be willing to take -- or that you are going to be willing to work something out so I guess I am concerned.

The fact is you don't mention the consulting and you probably had such income there, and you don't mention on page fifteen that amount of money and the fact is there are, you know, checks written to you where people are under the belief that you might be being a lawyer for them still. Whether it's three or four out of I don't know how many, there is still some indications whether Cohen allows it or not you accept checks coming straight to you from his clients under conditions that, you know, we all were going to be watching.

Those are all red flags. Had you never had the problems, they wouldn't be red flags because I guaranty you there are hundreds of lawyers out there that probably do stuff like that. But once you become a Bar client, those tiny little things become so incredibly crucial.

The referee determined that the law is unclear as to the scope of legal work allowed for a suspended attorney acting as a paralegal and found the evidence insufficient to show petitioner was practicing law. (RR 5). The referee recommended petitioner be reinstated with the following conditions; that he attend and successfully complete LOMAS within one year and employ someone qualified to handle his professional finances and/or work in an office that provides such assistance and oversight for a period of one year. The Bar petitioned for review of the Report of Referee, requesting this Court to reject the referee's recommendation of reinstatement.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The ability to practice law in Florida is a privilege and not a right. A suspended lawyer who seeks to be reinstated bears the heavy burden of proving to this Court's satisfaction, that he should be allowed this privilege once again.

Petitioner failed to produce clear and convincing evidence of his rehabilitation as required by Rule 3-7.10(f)(3), R. Regulating Fla. Bar. Petitioner's disciplinary history is related to abysmal financial practices, and during the suspension he continued to practice poor financial record keeping, improperly handled client monies, continued to have overdrawn bank accounts, and unsatisfied tax liens and judgments. The petition for reinstatement contained material omissions concerning his employment and income during the suspension for activities that constitute the unlicensed practice of law. The referee also erred in recommending reinstatement in the presence of disqualifying conduct set forth in Rule 3-7.10(f)(1), R. Regulating Fla. Bar. This conduct included the unauthorized and unsupervised practice of law, direct contact with clients, and the direct handling of client monies and funds held in trust. Petitioner also failed to strictly comply with Rule 3-5.1(g), R. Regulating Fla. Bar, and otherwise failed to strictly comply with the specific conditions of the disciplinary order. The Florida Bar respectfully requests this Court to protect the public by denying reinstatement.

ARGUMENT

THE REFEREE’S RECOMMENDATION TO REINSTATE PETITIONER IS ERRONEOUS AND UNJUSTIFIED BECAUSE PETITIONER ENGAGED IN DISQUALIFYING CONDUCT DURING THE PERIOD OF HIS SUSPENSION AND FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVING REHABILITATION.

The practice of law is a privilege, not a right. A petitioner seeking reinstatement to The Florida Bar must establish by clear and convincing evidence that he has met the criteria set forth in Rule 3-7.10, R. Regulating Fla. Bar, and the decisions of this Court. The Florida Bar re: McGraw, 903 So.2d 905 (Fla. 2005); In re Petition of Wolf, 257 So.2d 547 (Fla. 1972). In placing this burden of proof on the petitioner, this Court set specific reinstatement proceedings and criteria to define reinstatement as “more a matter of grace than a right ...” In re Stoller, 36 So.2d 443 (Fla. 1948).

In ruling on a petition for reinstatement, this Court has stated that, “We begin with the requirement that the burden is on the petitioner to establish that he is entitled to resume the privilege of practicing law without restrictions.” Petition of Dawson, 131 So.2d 472, 474 (Fla. 1961). “A petitioner seeking reinstatement bears the heavy burden of establishing rehabilitation.” Florida Bar re Janssen, 643 So.2d 1065, 1066 (Fla. 1994). Because of a lawyer's interaction with the public, a wide range of factors may be considered in determining whether an individual shall be allowed to resume the profession. Petition of Rubin, 323 So.2d 257, 258 (Fla. 1975).

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