IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,	S.Ct. Case No: SC08-250
Appellant,	Fla. Bar File No: 2008-51,119(17C)
v.	
MICHAEL HOWARD WOLF,	
Appellee.	

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE, ATTORNEY MICHAEL HOWARD WOLF

Michael D. Gelety, Esq. 1209 SE 3rd Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 954-462-4600 954-462-0828 (FAX) Fla. Bar No.: 215473 MGeletyattorney@GMail.com

Counsel for Appellee Wolf

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

Judge Kroll specifically and diligently cited and followed these very standards in fashioning her recommendation for reinstatement of the Appellee Wolf. (R.R., p. 2-3). As appropriate, and required of this experienced Referee, she carefully considered and weighed all the facts and circumstances before making her final recommendation.

In the case before this Court, The Florida Bar contested Wolf's "full compliance with the conditions imposed" in the suspension order, essentially claiming and accusing Wolf of practicing law. Of course this claim by the Bar was carefully considered and addressed in the Referee's Report, and rejected as having no proof or support. (R.R. p. 5, 6).

The Florida Bar, as the objecting party, carries the burden of showing that the Referee's findings of fact are clearly erroneous, as they deal with the existence and support in the record for the rehabilitation of Wolf. The Florida Bar v. Tauler, 775 So.2d 944. 946 (Fla. 2000): 3-7.7. See also Bar Rule (5) "Upon review, the burden shall be upon the party seeking review to demonstrate that a report of a referee sought to be reviewed is erroneous, unlawful,

or unjustified". The Bar "cannot satisfy this burden by simply pointing to contradictory evidence when there is also competent substantial evidence in the record that supports the Referee's findings". The Florida Bar v. Barrrett, 897 So.2d 1269, 1275 (Fla. 2005); The Florida Bar v. Senton, 882 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 2004). In reality, The Bar presented no evidence (and did no or limited cross-examination on most witnesses), nor did The Bar challenge the sixty seven (67) defense exhibits entered into the record and considered by the Referee – so there is no "contradictory or inconclusive testimony" that the Bar can even point to in their attempt to challenge "rehabilitation".

Under Rule 3-7.10 (f) *Determination of Fitness by Referee Hearing*, the Referee determines "the fitness of the petitioner to resume the practice of law", considering "whether the petitioner has engaged in any disqualifying conduct, the character and fitness of the petitioner, and whether the petitioner has been rehabilitated" (in addition to the above quoted elements of 3-7.10 (3) (A -G):

(2) Determination of Character and Fitness. In addition to other factors in making this determination, the following factors should be considered in assigning weight and significance to prior conduct:

• •

- (H) positive social contributions since the conduct;
- (I) candor in the discipline and reinstatement processes; and
- (J) materiality of any omissions or misrepresentations.

These factors, particularly Wolf's candor, have singular significance in this case as Judge Kroll was very active during the hearing, and often addressed Wolf directly demanding answers and explanations about the three (3) areas of challenge by the Bar (R.R., p. 4): alleged practice of law, (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 338-9, the supposed omission of his "consulting" or "L.A. Fitness" income from his disclosures (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 251-2) and the receiving and handling of money (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 331-2). The Judge questioned Wolf, demanded answers, considered the candor and logic and reasonableness of the answers in light of other testimony and evidence, and found Wolf's explanations sufficient, his character unimpeached and his rehabilitation complete: "Mr. Wolf is obviously well liked and a contributing citizen to our society. He is very knowledgeable and respected in the legal field. He is everything one would want of a bar member except he is horrible at financial management. There is no evidence of Mr. Wolf acting with any malicious intent. He appeared remorseful. He likes to help people. (R.R., p. 6).

Regarding the Bar's claim that Wolf was practicing law, the referee heard the innuendo (and nothing more) from the Bar and rejected it as unsupported (R.R., p. 5) weighing and accepting the testimony and explanations of Wolf and the witnesses – and rejecting the Bar's conspiracy theory and concomitant claim that the witnesses, particularly attorneys Cohen and DeYoung (and, of course, Wolf) are unreliable, not credible and not worthy of belief:

Court: I haven't heard your side of the case yet <u>other than implications</u> and one of the things it seems like you are trying to say is sort of, he really was doing legal work anyway as a paralegal and <u>it's all kind of a fraud</u>, etc. type of thing. Is this one of your contentions?

Bar: Yes

Court: So if you are going to try to go the other way and say all of this stuff is a set up, why can't they show that there were a lot of people who thought things looked pretty bad but you didn't prosecute...are you going to present any witnesses?

Bar: No. (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 199-200).

Also, the Court addressed the Bar's lack of witness to dispute clear and logical and persuasive testimony from attorneys Cohen and DeYoung:

Court: The testimony at least actually from both lawyers that employed him are they called the Bar to get advice. DeYoung says I'm told he can talk to me during a hearing...Are you disputing – you didn't bring any evidence to dispute those things...(R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 341).

Also: "You haven't dragged a client in here who was out to get blood, unlike other cases." (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 350).

The Bar tried to rely on Rule 3-6.1, which allows suspended attorneys, subject to the exceptions set forth, to "perform those services that may ethically be performed by non-lawyers employed by authorized business entities." The "exceptions" are found in 3-6.1(d), *Prohibited Conduct*:

- (1) Direct Client Contact. --Individuals subject to this rule shall not have direct contact with any client. Direct client contact does not include the participation of the individual as an observer in any meeting, hearing, or interaction between a supervising attorney and a client.
- (2) Trust Funds or Property. --Individuals subject to this rule shall not receive, disburse, or otherwise handle trust funds or property.
 - (3) Practice of Law. --Individuals subject to this rule shall not engage in conduct

that constitutes the practice of law and such individuals shall not hold themselves out as being eligible to do so.

The vagueness and uncertainty of this section was obvious to Judge Kroll: "Is this all you give these guys who get suspended [Rule 3-6.1] this and say 'good luck, figure it out for yourself?'" (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 342). **NOTE:** It is crucial for this Court to note that Judge Kroll spoke of recently sitting on a Supreme Court Committee on Practice and Accountability, mentioning that there was "heated debate" among the judges on the panel as to what is acceptable activity, what constitutes practicing law. (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 342).

Along with the un-remarkable premise that a suspended attorney can't practice law (Bar's brief p.18-22), The Bar repeatedly emphasized three matters in which Wolf was involved: M and W/"the key west case", the Dudley Hardy case, in Starke, and the Global Games/Gravaman matter (Bar's brief, p. 6-8, 24-27). It is critical for this Court to understand what the Bar didn't grasp: in all three of these cases, Wolf was paid by his consulting customers to "tutor" their lawyers (and in Gravaman, to assisted in finding lawyers for the defense team being assembled) in this complex "arcane little field" of Arcade and Gaming law in which Wolf is "extremely well versed". (R.R. p. 5; R. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 41-2, Vol. 2, p. 287-8, 298). Again, the Bar relies upon speculation or suspicion, not evidence or testimony, and Wolf's actions cannot reasonably be viewed as "practicing law".

The Judge went further to flatly state and echo the fear and uncertainty expressed by the attorneys and Wolf: "If I was a lawyer I'd be scared as you-knowwhat to hire you." (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 346). The referee's recommendation was well explored and is well supported.

Regarding the Bar's claim that Wolf didn't disclose all of his income sources, specifically, the "consulting" and the L.A. Fitness, this Court's attention is initially directed to those documents filed, disclosed and supplied by Wolf, but which were apparently overlooked by the Bar and which were later examined and understood by Judge Kroll: Wolf's exhibit 12, 24, 24a

Rule 3-7.10(1) *Petitions for Reinstatement to Membership in Good Standing* requires, in subsection (3), authorization to the I.R.S. for the past five years returns (which was given by Wolf, along with copies of the actual returns, See Exhibits 6, 9, 19, 20, 21, 24, 24a, 25, 25a,), as well as:

. . .

- (D) the nature of the petitioner's occupation in detail since suspension or incapacity, with names and addresses of all partners, associates in business, and employers, if any, and dates and duration of all such relations and employments;
- (E) a statement showing the approximate monthly earnings and other income of the petitioner and the sources from which all such earnings and income were derived during said period.

The Referee rejected the Bar's baseless though insistent reliance on the Bar's perception that Wolf failed to disclose, nay, tried to hide his consulting

activities, by supposedly omitting these activities from his Petition for Reinstatement and the supporting documents. Although these accusations are simply not true and were easily debunked with Wolf's explanation and a quick reading of the documents in question, the initial toxic effect of this innuendo was evident as the Referee seemed to accept the truth of the claims:

Court: Why didn't you mention it on the form?

Wolf: ...I should have added a paragraph, "Do private consulting". (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 251-2, 254).

And later:

Court: There are a lot cases here for your consulting...not mentioned here. What's the story with that? That is not mentioned anywhere to the Bar... I want an explanation.

Wolf: Let's start with the negative. Were we trying to hide something? No. My income was my income. I supplied the Bar with every single check that went into my account. The Bar, once they got copies of all those checks talked to by phone or in person every single one of those people that got a check to find out what it was for, all right. They are not bringing any witnesses here.

...There would be no reason for me to intentionally hide something from the Bar. They are entitled to know what my income is. ...Why that was omitted from the language of the petition, if you want to consider it that way, I considered my consulting through the Florida Arcade Association as I explained before ...So other than a negligent omission, it couldn't be an intention to hide something because everything had to be out in the open to them. They got my tax returns, they got my bank statements, they got copies of all of the checks so they knew what I was doing and how much I was making. (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 320-1).

This Court must realize the accuracy and truthfulness and credibility of Wolf's explanation, as the Bar was actually confronted by the Referee about the implications that Wolf failed to disclose information or documents:

Court: Is it the Bar's position that you did not receive the documents?

Bar: No, I'm just trying to show the timing...

Court: Is it your position that you were ill prepared to proceed today because of the timing?

Bar: No...Mr. Gelety's argument was they have been fully cooperative with the Bar and given us a ton of documents, so I'm going through what he produced and when he produced it.

Court: Are you trying to imply that they are being somewhat secretive about it?

Bar: No...

Court: Are you implying that you did not receive the documents?

Bar: Your Honor, I'll leave that area. (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 263-4).

Similarly, the Referee questioned the Bar's unfamiliarity with exhibits and documents "I hope you did discovery before today" (R. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 149) and the undersigned complained about the Bar's unfamiliarity with the exhibits and documents provided "We have been here for two hours. I showed you our list" (R. Tr. Vol. 1, p. 34) and complained as well at the Bar's innuendo that exhibits or documents may be missing:

Bar: Is it in there?

Gelety: You know it is. You know it is...I resent every time he looks at a document, 'I don't know if it's in there'. Yes, he does know it's in there. He's trying to do innuendo that it might not be in there. It's in there. You know it's in there. I'll find it. I have been shouting out names and exhibit numbers because you won't read my exhibit list. So don't try to tell the judge or give the judge the wrong impression.

Referee: Wait...But you clearly had a good hour or hour and a half with nothing to do here, and I was under the impression that these were agreed to exhibits going in.

Bar: They are agreed-to exhibits, your Honor. I was really asking Mr. Gelety's help to locate it...

Gelety: Then say that. Don't pretend that it's not there. (R. Tr. Vol. 2, p. 277-8).

Obviously, the Referree went back and looked at Wolf's submissions and exhibits and noted that Wolf <u>did</u>, as he said, specifically and repeatedly reveal "consulting" as well as the "L.A. Fitness" income: see Exhibit 12, non-required financial affidavit, filed with Wolf's original petition, indicating "consultant, paralegal, aerobics instructor," under occupation, (with "L.A. Fitness" designated); (Appendix p. 7-8,); Exhibits 24, 24a, 25, 29, tax returns indicating occupation as "consultant" (Appendix, p. 9-10, 11, 12, 13); Exhibit 36, W-2 from L.A. Fitness. Additionally, Wolf supplied all checks, deposits, billing statements and statements including every check for every client mentioned by the Bar in their argument and brief. (Exhibits 30, 31, 32, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 47, 49, 67; Appendix, p. 1-6).

This Court is reminded that a Referee occupies a favored vantage point for assessing key considerations – such as the candor, credibility and believability of the witnesses, as well as Wolf's cooperation, forthrightness, remorse, and, ultimately, his rehabilitation. <u>The Florida Bar v. Lecznar</u>, 690 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1997). Further, this Court is reminded, most respectfully, that:

Because the Referee is in the best position to judge the credibility of witnesses, this Court defers to the Referee's resolution of the conflicting testimony, and the Referee's judgment regarding credibility should not be overturned absent clear and convincing evidence that his judgment is incorrect. The Florida Bar v. Batista, 846 So.2d 479, 483 (Fla. 2003); The Florida Bar v. Senton, 882 So.2d 997, 1001 (Fla. 2004).

There is no question, no contradiction, and no doubt that the record supports the Referee's finding of rehabilitation in this matter, and the Florida Bar's challenge to these findings must necessarily fail.

For comparison, and to finally show that the Referee's recommendation has substantial, virtually overwhelming support in the case law (to go along with the identical type of factual and evidentiary support found in the record), this Court's attention is called to the following decisions:

In <u>Florida Bar v.Grusmark</u>, 662 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 1995) this Court approved the referee's recommendation of reinstatement, in a factually similar case to Appellee Wolf's situation, as "the referee concluded that Grusmark's disordered financial situation would be the only reason to deny Grusmark's petition for reinstatement." Id., p. 1236. At the time of the hearing, in addition to owing numerous creditors in excess of \$ 268,000, Grusmark owed The Florida Bar \$ 1,410 in dues, late fees, and reinstatement fees, and the Client Security Fund \$ 3,900. Moreover, the referee found that many of Grusmark's previous

disciplinary actions were directly connected to his financial difficulties. While the referee found that most of Grusmark's debt resulted from his previous lavish lifestyle, Grusmark had, prior to the hearing, taken steps to improve his financial problems by living within his means and indicated at the hearing his intent to file promptly for personal bankruptcy.

The Bar challenged the referee's recommendation, claiming that the petition for Grusmark reinstatement should have been denied on two bases. First, the Bar asserted error in recommending reinstatement because Grusmark failed to make complete restitution to the Client Security Fund until after the reinstatement hearing. Second, as with Wolf, the Bar asserted "that since the referee found that money is at the root of Grusmark's problems, this petition should be denied until Grusmark has the ability to start practicing law with a clean financial slate." P. 1236.

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